04/23/2024

Bowen Greenwood

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0721

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MONTANA

Cause No. DA 23-0721

ALLIED WASTE SERVICES OF NORTH AMERICA, LLC, d/b/a REPUBLIC SERVICES OF MONTANA,

Appellant,

VS.

LH RESIDENTIAL LLC and OTIS STREET LLC, both d/b/a MONTANA CRESTVIEW,

Appellees.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County Cause No. DV-32-22-0001172-BC

Appearances:

Jeffrey M. Roth
William M. Morris
CROWLEY FLECK PLLP
305 South 4th Street East, Suite 100
P.O. Box 7099
Missoula, MT 59807-7099
Tele: (406) 523-3600
jroth@crowleyfleck.com
wmorris@crowleyfleck.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the district court erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion by certifying a class without requiring that it be possible to identify the class members?
- 2. Whether the district court erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion by certifying a Rule 23(b)(3) class when the single, purported "common question" the district court relied on is based on a misapprehension of the parties' agreement and liability for Plaintiffs' claims can only be determined by a case-by-case analysis?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the district court's order granting class certification in a case involving commercial garbage service in Missoula, Montana. Defendant/Appellant Allied Waste Services of North America, LLC, d/b/a Republic Services of Montana ("Republic") provides commercial garbage service. Plaintiffs/Appellees LH Residential, LLC and Otis Street LLC both d/b/a Montana Crestview (collectively, "Crestview") manage two apartment complexes in Missoula and contracted with Republic for garbage service.

Crestview's claims have evolved over the course of the case, but they have never been susceptible to class treatment. When Crestview filed its initial complaint, its claims were premised on two key mistaken beliefs, that: (1) all of Republic's 3-

yard garbage containers are allegedly less than three cubic yards; and (2) Republic charges customers a fee for excess garbage every time trash at all exceeds the capacity of the container.

Discovery, however, showed that (1) a substantial portion of Republic's garbage containers indisputably measure three yards or more; (2) customers, like Crestview, possessed a mix of container models that frequently changed over time; and (3) Republic's company policy is to only charge a fee for excess garbage when the amount of excess garbage well exceeds the capacity of the container.

These factual developments scrambled Crestview's class treatment theories. After briefing on class certification was closed, Crestview modified its class definition to try to account for these developments. Crestview's Amended Class Definition (which the district court adopted), however, only created new obstacles to class certification, including an insurmountable barrier to the identification of class members. The district court failed to properly analyze the factors that prohibit class treatment.

The Amended Class Definition did not solve the fundamental problem under Montana law with establishing classwide liability concerning the service agreement at issue. Customers like Crestview pay Republic to collect up to a certain volume of garbage. Thus, the size of the container provided in connection with Republic's garbage collection service cannot be a proxy for liability in this case. This is

especially so because Republic's written policy provides that customers are allowed, at no extra cost, to overflow their containers with trash by an amount that well exceeds the capacity of the container. In other words, Republic provides 3-yard customers with at least three yards of garbage service regardless of which 3-yard container model was on site at any given time. Proof of any liability, then, will require the court to individually determine whether Republic failed to collect the volume of trash contracted for at the contract price for each customer. Accordingly, contrary to the district court's reasoning, the size of Republic's containers cannot resolve the key question of classwide liability for Plaintiffs' claims.

On November 28, 2023, the District Court certified a class under Mont. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) on Crestview's breach of contract and negligent misrepresentation claims. Republic timely appealed the Order pursuant to Mont. R. Civ. P. 23(f) and Mont. R. App. Pro. 6(3)(d).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Crestview's Pleadings and the Amended Class Definition Confirm that this Case Concerns Obligations under a Service Contract.

Crestview's pleadings conclusively demonstrate that it is seeking relief for Republic's alleged failure to provide service. This is significant because it demonstrates that the size of Republic's containers does not determine liability.

According to Crestview's own allegations, "the fundamental agreement was that Republic would collect up to a specific volume of garbage at each property each

week for a fixed price." (Dkt. 12, First Amended Complaint ("FAC") at ¶ 23.) In fact, Crestview uses the word "service" to describe the benefits of its relationship with Republic no less than 17 times in its First Amended Complaint. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 13–16, 18–21, 23, 32–36, 51, 54–55.) While considerable portions of the class certification briefing focused on the precise size and model of Republic's 3-yard containers, these containers are simply tools used to facilitate Republic's garbage collection service.

The Amended Class Definition further solidifies this point. The Amended Class Definition that governs the class that is subject to this appeal uses the word "service" to describe Republic's obligation to Crestview and the potential class members:

- Breach-of Contract Class: All Republic Services customers in Missoula County who paid for "three-yard" dumpster <u>service</u> but were provided one or more dumpsters measuring 2.6 cubic yards or less, at any time from October 19, 2014 until the date the class is provided notice, or until judgment is entered.
- Negligent Misrepresentation Class: All Republic Services customers in Missoula County who paid for "three-yard" dumpster <u>service</u> but were provided one or more dumpsters measuring 2.6 cubic yards or less, at any time from October 19, 2019 until the date the class is provided notice, or until judgment is entered.

(Dkt. 34, Crestview's Notice of Proposed Amended Class Definition at pp. 2–3; Dkt. 38, Order at pp. 2, 8–9 (emphasis added).)

4

-

¹ This brief uses the abbreviation "Dkt" for the docket number in the district court record.

Crestview's class certification brief also frames the issue as one concerning whether Republic collected a certain "volume of garbage" and whether it failed "by providing contractually nonconforming services." (Dkt. 22, Crestview's Class Certification Brief at pp. 3–4, 19.)

II. Republic's Garbage Collection Service.

Republic provides garbage collection services for its customers. Most customers enter a customer service agreement ("CSA") with Republic, but a CSA is not always in place, and customers can still receive Republic's services on an invoice-by-invoice basis (as Crestview did). (Dkt. 26, Republic's Opposition Brief at pp. 5–6 and Ex. 1, ¶¶ 8–9.) Republic charges its customers based upon the number of containers on site and the number of lifts of those containers in a billing cycle. (*Id.* at Ex. 1, ¶ 9.) While Republic's CSAs and invoices refer to container size, such as 3-yard containers, this is an acknowledgement of the service volume that Republic will provide with a given type of container.

Depending on specific facts and circumstances that vary from customer to customer and each individual service visit, Republic's drivers may recommend an additional "overage fee" when the volume of garbage significantly exceeds the capacity of a given container. (Id., ¶¶ 10–14.) Drivers have the discretion to recommend overage charges in instances where the customer's garbage is excessive. (Id., ¶¶ 11–13.) However, as confirmed by Republic's written policy, there must be

at least one additional yard of excessive trash in the container before a driver may recommend an overage charge. (Id., ¶¶ 11–12.) Drivers must document the excessive garbage with photographs (beginning in 2019), and operations personnel must then review and approve the charge. (Id., ¶¶ 13–14.)

Customers have questioned certain overage charges at times. Based upon these inquires and circumstances specific to the customer, Republic has waived some overage fees, including overage charges for Crestview. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 15–17.)

III. Republic's Containers.

Republic utilizes three models of 3-yard garbage containers in the Missoula service area. The models are manufactured by two different companies, Wastequip and Capital Industries, Inc. ("Capital"). (Dkt. 26, Opp. Brief at Ex. 1, ¶¶ 5–6.)

The two manufacturers refer to all models as "3-yard containers," but each model has a slightly different internal capacity. (*See id.*) The Wastequip model generally has an unloaded, internal volume of approximately 2.96 cubic yards. (Dkt. 26 at Aff. S. Curry, Ex. A, pp. 4–5.) The Capital containers manufactured after 2013 have an unloaded, internal volume of approximately 2.92 to 3.02 cubic yards. *Id.* The Capital containers manufactured before 2013 have an unloaded, internal volume of approximately 2.52 cubic yards ("Old Capital Container"). *Id.* Despite this, due to its general style and dimension, Capital categorizes the Old Capital Container as a "3 cubic yd." capacity container. (Dkt. 37, Notice of Filing Supplemental Material

at Exs. 3 & 4.) Due to the weight of trash and outward bending of the interior walls of the containers, true loaded volume for each container is slightly greater. (Dkt. 26, Aff. S. Curry, Ex. A, pp. 4–5.)

Republic's 3-yard container order history shows that in 2013 Republic began exclusively receiving either the newer Capital container or the Wastequip container ("Newer Model Containers"). By 2017, Republic had purchased 360 of the Newer Model Containers. (*See* Dkt. 29, Crestview Reply Brief, Aff. J. Kodadek, ¶ 5.) By 2018, it had purchased at least 450 Newer Model Containers. (*Id.*) As of 2022, more than 600 of Republic's 3-yard containers in the Missoula County market, or approximately 25% of its inventory, were the Newer Model Containers. (Dkt. 26, Opp. Brief, Ex. 1, ¶¶ 5–7.)² Crestview concedes there is no problem with the Newer Model Containers.

Republic randomly distributes its various model containers to customers. (*Id.* at Ex. 3, ¶ 4.) When containers require repairs or maintenance, Republic replaces them with a different container. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 7–8.) Republic has not historically tracked which model container is utilized at any particular location, making it impossible to know what customer had what model container for much of the class period. (*See id.*, \P ¶ 4, 7–9; *see also* Dkt. 12, FAC at \P 43.)

² While there have been discrepancies in the calculation of Republic's container inventory, the

district court and the parties agree that approximately 25% of Republic's 3-yard container inventory consists of the Newer Model Containers. (*See* Dkt. 29 at pp. 7–9; Dkt. 38 at p. 7.)

IV. Montana Public Service Commission Testimony Confirms that the Issue is a Question of Service, and that the Type of 3-Yard Container Is Not a Proxy for Liability.

Throughout the case, Crestview has touted the testimony of Max Bauer, Jr. as evidence of its claims, but the Bauer testimony only confirms the problems with class certification. (Dkt. 22, Crestview Brief at pp. 6–7.) Bauer testified before the Montana Public Service Commission ("PSC") in 2021 on behalf of Grizzly Disposal & Recycling, a competitor seeking to enter the Missoula market. Bauer, who had worked in the industry for decades, including for Republic and its predecessors, testified in favor of Grizzly Disposal's entry into the market and against Republic. (*Id.* at pp. 6–7.)

During the PSC proceedings, Bauer confirmed that the internal capacity of the Old Capital Container was not an impediment to fulfilling Republic's service obligations. As he put it, customers "were getting 3 yards of service with that container." (*Id.* at Ex. 1, pp. 000204–000205.) Bauer explained that he purchased the Old Capital Containers to be compatible with the new trucks at the time. (*Id.*) He further testified that in conjunction with the purchase of the Old Capital Containers he met with the PSC to get its blessing on the use of the Old Capital Containers. (*Id.*) Bauer informed the PSC that it would be Republic's "company policy" to only charge customers an overage if the customer's trash exceeded the rim of the container by 18 to 20 inches. (*Id.*) Thus, by providing customers an allowance of

excess trash, customers "were getting 3 yards of service with [the Old Capital Containers]." (*Id.*)

V. The Crestview Apartment Complexes and Their Containers.

Crestview owns and manages two apartment complexes in Missoula, Montana, one called River Rock Apartments and the other called Crestview Apartments. Republic provided Crestview with nine 3-yard garbage containers at its two apartment complexes, two at the River Rock complex and seven at the Crestview complex. (*See* Dkt. 26, Opp. Brief, Ex. 3 at ¶¶ 12, 14.)

It is impossible to know what model containers were present at the Crestview apartment complexes over the entire life of the service agreement between Republic and Crestview. But based upon comparisons of photos and videos from 2021 and 2022, it is apparent that Crestview did *not* have the same model containers throughout that time period and most of the containers at the apartment complexes were the Newer Model Containers. For instance, based upon Republic's service survey in January 2022 at the Crestview complex, where videos were taken of each of Crestview's seven containers, there were three Old Capital Containers and four Newer Model Containers on site. 3 (*Id.* at Ex. 3, ¶¶ 10–13.) But overage photos from 2021 show that a Newer Model Container had previously been in place of an Old

9

³ Republic does not have similar video documentation for the broader class. It undertook this service survey following specific requests from Crestview.

Capital Container that was present in the 2022 videos. (*Id.*) At the River Rock complex in 2021, photographs show there were two Newer Model Containers on site and zero Old Capital Containers. (*Id.* at Ex. 3, ¶ 14.) There is no available evidence of what containers Crestview had at either apartment complex before 2019.

VI. Crestview's Pleadings and the Discovery Record.

Crestview's initial complaint was based on some key factual inaccuracies. First, in its initial complaint, Crestview alleged that all of Republic's 3-yard containers had an internal capacity of less than 3 yards. (Dkt. 1, Complaint at ¶ 21.) Second, Crestview alleged that "[a] few years ago, Republic began charging for socalled 'overages,' which is apparently assessed when the dumpsters had enough garbage that the lid would not fully seat." (*Id.* at $\P\P$ 17–18.) Taking these allegations together, Crestview alleged that Republic breached its contract because "the practical effect of the under-sized dumpsters is that many of the overages that Republic charges for are not truly overages at all." (Id. at ¶ 24.) This, Crestview alleged, represented a breach of contract because "[t]he basis of the parties' overall bargain was that Republic would provide three-yard dumpsters and Crestview would pay Republic for collecting up to three yards' worth of garbage in each of those dumpsters on each visit." (*Id.* at ¶ 30.)

Following some initial discovery, however, Crestview filed an amended complaint on March 15, 2023. Crestview's amended complaint again alleges that

"the fundamental agreement was that Republic would collect up to a specific volume of garbage at each property each week for a fixed price." (Dkt. 12, FAC at ¶ 23.)

Unlike its initial complaint, Crestview now acknowledges that Republic utilizes "several hundred 'three-yard' dumpsters that measure" three cubic yards. (*See, e.g., id.* at ¶¶ 33, 38.) The amended complaint further acknowledges that Republic has not "track[ed] the specific location of [its] differently sized dumpsters." (*Id.* at ¶ 43.) Finally, Crestview's amended complaint acknowledges that at least some of the overage fees it was charged were "legitimate." (*Id.* at \P 27.)⁴

Crestview's concessions in its amended complaint—that hundreds of Republic's containers measure three cubic yards; that Republic did not track the location of the different models of containers; and that some of the overage fees Crestview paid were legitimate—are supported by the evidence. Indeed, by the time Crestview filed its amended complaint, Republic had produced thousands of photographs of the excess trash at Crestview's properties when overage fees were assessed. These photographs repeatedly showed the amount of trash at the Crestview apartment complexes far exceeded the three cubic yards of trash that Republic contracted with Crestview to collect, regardless of which container model was in

⁴ Crestview's amended complaint also added a claim for negligent misrepresentation. Repackaging its breach of contract claim as a tort claim, Crestview alleges it detrimentally relied on Republic's representations in the CSA's concerning the containers provided in connection with the garbage collection services. (Dkt 12, FAC at ¶¶ 67–72).

use. (*See, e.g.*, Dkt. 26, Opp. Brief, Ex. 3 at Exs. B & C.) Republic asked Crestview in discovery to identify every instance of allegedly unjustified overages. Crestview identified only <u>three</u> occasions it contends were actually unjustified, despite initially asserting it paid thousands of dollars in allegedly unjustified overage fees over the years. (Dkt. 26, Opp. Brief, Ex 4 at 176:6–177:22.)

In short, discovery and Crestview's admissions make one thing abundantly clear: the possession of an Old Capital Container cannot be used to establish a breach of Republic's agreement to collect up to a specific volume of garbage for each customer, each week for a fixed price.

Notably, at the deposition of Crestview's manager, Michelle McLinden, McLinden viewed photographs of the trash at her container sites on the three dates when Crestview alleged the overage charges were unjustified. When questioned, McLinden acknowledged that the overages on even some of these three dates *were* likely justified. (*Id.* at Ex. 4, 176:15–180:18.) And she testified that determining whether any particular overage was justified or unjustified would require a "caseby-case" analysis based on a host of factors, including an inspection of how the trash in the container was stacked. (*Id.* at Ex. 4, 178:25–180:12.) McLinden also acknowledged that most of the containers at the Crestview apartment complexes were *not* the Old Capital Container. (*Id.* at Ex. 4, 161:15–162:13.)

VII. Crestview's Motion for Class Certification.

In its opening brief requesting class certification, Crestview ignored its own recognition that Republic uses a variety of different model containers, and that Crestview has been charged legitimate overage fees. Crestview sought to certify a class of *all* Republic customers that contracted for 3-yard garbage collection service, regardless of whether they had an allegedly Old Capital Container or a different 3-yard model. Crestview argued that as a result of the PSC Proceedings *all* of Republic's containers should simply be deemed "undersized" containers by way of judicial estoppel. (*See* Dkt. 21, Crestview's Opening Brief at pp. 6–8, 12–15.)

Republic's response brief dismantled Crestview's tenuous legal argument, and Crestview subsequently abandoned the theory. After briefing on its motion for class certification closed, Crestview amended its proposed class definition to include only customers who "at any time" since 2014 were provided with one or more Old Capital Containers. (Dkt. 34, Crestview's Notice of Proposed Amended Class Definition.)

Crestview presented no evidence whatsoever of how it might be possible to determine whether any given customer had "at any time" one or more of the Old Capital Containers. Indeed, in proposing this new class definition, Crestview ignored its admission in its amended complaint that Republic did not track the distribution

of its various model containers and the fact that there is simply no way to determine which customer had what model of container dating back to 2014.

In its Order granting class certification, the district court did not address the fact that it is impossible to identify who among Republic's customers fits within Crestview's Amended Class Definition. The district court acknowledged that nearly 25% of Republic's recent container inventory consists of the Newer Models, but then conducted no analysis of how this fact complicates determining who is in the class. Nor did the court analyze how the mix of container models complicates liability with respect to customers, like Crestview, that had a mix of containers that changed over time. (Dkt. 38, Order at pp. 7–8, 15.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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