FILED

06/24/2024 Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0721

DA 23-0721

In the Supreme Court of the State of Montana

ALLIED WASTE SERVICES OF NORTH AMERICA, LLC, d/b/a Republic Services of Montana

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

LH RESIDENTIAL LLC and OTIS STREET LLC, both d/b/a MONTANA CRESTVIEW

Plaintiffs/Appellees.

Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court Missoula County Hon. Jason Marks, DV-32-22-1172-BC

RESPONSE BRIEF OF MONTANA CRESTVIEW

Jesse Kodadek Leah Trahan PARSONS BEHLE & LATIMER 127 E. Main, Ste. 301 Missoula, MT 59802 (406) 317-7220 jkodadek@parsonsbehle.com ltrahan@parsonsbehle.com

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

Further, even if Republic *does* collect at least three yards' worth of garbage for class members with undersized dumpsters before charging an overage, it is still possible that Republic's actions violate the covenant of good faith and fair dealing. That is because the covenant requires honesty in fact and observance of reasonable commercial standards of fair dealing in the trade. Section 28–1–211, MCA.

If, as Republic seemingly maintains, its 2.5-yard dumpsters are unique to Missoula County, then a jury could conclude that Republic's actions in Missoula County are inconsistent with reasonable commercial standards in the garbage industry, and that Republic thereby breached the contract.³⁹ Hardy v. Vision Serv. Plan, 2005 MT 232, ¶ 13, 328 Mont. 385, 120 P.3d 402 (a breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing constitutes a breach of the contract). This is especially true when Republic has taken the position that in the garbage industry, "a three-yard container is readily distinguishable from a two-yard container and a four-yard container due to its size and various typical features."⁴⁰ If a three-yard container is so "readily distinguishable" from a two-yard container, shouldn't it measure three cubic yards, rather than only half of a yard more?

Republic also asserts that "if Republic followed its own overage

 ³⁹ And if the undersized dumpsters are not unique to Missoula County, then Republic may have a bigger problem than currently contemplated by this case.
 ⁴⁰ SA-80.

policy—providing customers an allowance of at least one extra yard before charging any overage—there is no liability."⁴¹ But if, as Republic claims, it only charges for overages that constitute a full yard of extra garbage—something very much in dispute—that means Republic is collecting just 3.5 yards of garbage from customers with a 2.5-yard dumpster before charging an overage. But by charging an overage on an extra yard of garbage in an undersized dumpster, that means Republic is charging for 4 yards of garbage collection while collecting just 3.5 yards of garbage, so it is not clear how this argument would exonerate Republic.⁴²

Crestview, of course, did not ask the district court to resolve these disputes below, and does not ask this Court to do so now. The point is simply that the answer will be the same for every member of the class, and the class will therefore "sink or swim together." *Mattson v. Montana Power Co.*, 2012 MT 318, ¶ 38, 368 Mont. 1, 291 P.3d 1209. Common issues therefore predominate over any individual issues.

⁴¹ Appellant's Brief at 16.

⁴² Republic also fails to explain why it distinguishes between 1.5- and 2.0-yard dumpsters in its commercial offerings yet here argues a halfyard discrepancy in container size makes no difference in the amount of service it provides. It would make little sense for Republic to distinguish between a 1.5-yard dumpster and a 2-yard dumpster if it provided equivalent services for both sizes.

B. The cases Republic relies on involve cases where individualized questions would determine whether the defendant was subject to any liability at all.

In support of its predominance arguments, Republic relies heavily on two cases, just as it did below: Sangwin v. State, 2013 MT 373, 373 Mont. 131, 315 P.3d 279, and Lara v. First Nat'l Ins. Co. of Am., 25 F.4th 1134 (9th Cir. 2022). But as the district court concluded, those cases are distinguishable. First, in Lara, the plaintiffs sued an auto insurer, alleging it breached the insurance contract by improperly calculating the actual cash value of their vehicles. Lara, 25 F.4th at 1139. The district court denied class certification and the Ninth Circuit affirmed, concluding that determining whether the insurer was liable to any particular class member was necessarily an individualized issue, because it "would involve looking into the actual pre-accident value of the car and then comparing that with what each person was offered, to see if the offer was less than the actual value." Id.

Similarly, in *Sangwin*, this Court held that the predominance requirement of one of the certified classes was not satisfied because determining whether the State improperly denied a given class member's health insurance claim under an "experimental exclusion" clause would require a careful examination of the specific circumstances of each individual class member's claim file, which meant that individual inquiries would predominate over common inquiries. *Sangwin*, ¶¶ 36–37. The district court rejected Republic's argument, concluding that this case is more akin to *Kramer*, where this Court recognized that before any individual inquiry would be necessary, the insurer's "duty under the policy...must first be determined as a matter of law, including whether its internal practices, unstated in the policy, constitute a breach of that duty." *Kramer*, ¶ 19. *Kramer* went on to conclude that the "answer to this common question will move the litigation forward," and the question of overall liability "predominates over individual assessments that would be subsequently conducted." *Kramer*, ¶ 22.

Here, as the district court concluded, the "common questions" of whether Republic breached its contracts or committed tortious acts by providing undersized dumpsters "predominate over individual issues."⁴³ The district court was correct, and the fact that Republic insists that it has done nothing wrong does not change the result, because at the end of the day, Republic may be correct that "there would obviously be no breach...when, as most frequently occurs, customers do not even fill their containers."⁴⁴

But Republic may also be wrong, because there are myriad potential benefits to having a true 3-yard dumpster. Some might use that amount of space before each scheduled lift. Others might simply

⁴³ A-26.

⁴⁴ Appellant's Brief at 27.

want to have that much space available, even if they do not plan to use the full amount for every lift. And some might choose a 3-yard dumpster because they don't like seeing trash piled over the rim, either for aesthetic reasons or so they can lock it to prevent dumpster-diving.

A jury could thus conclude that it simply doesn't matter how people are using what they paid for—or thought they paid for—and that Republic does not get to dictate that for them, regardless of whether they chose a "three-yard" dumpster as a matter of necessity or of whim.⁴⁵ Indeed, Montana has already determined as a matter of public policy that businesses are required to provide accurate information about the services they provide, and it is a literal crime to engage in a deceptive business practice, which is when a business "sells, offers, exposes for sale, or delivers less than the represented quantity of any commodity or service[.]" Section 45–6–318, MCA.⁴⁶ And the PSC has

⁴⁵ E.g., United States v. Canova, 412 F.3d 331, 352 (2d Cir. 2005) ("Whether the testing time on a pacemaker, the number of rivets on an airplane wing, or the coats of paint on a refurbished building is a matter of necessity or whim, the fact remains that the victim has been induced to pay for something that it wanted and was promised but did not get, thereby incurring some measure of pecuniary 'loss.""). ⁴⁶ Republic's argument here is akin to falsely representing the size of a container of olive oil. It would likely be no defense for that producer to argue that some customers might not use all the oil before it goes bad, and that therefore the producer did not do anything wrong as to those customers. Instead, Crestview's position is simply that customers are entitled to what they paid for. And it may be that establishing a breach of this statutory obligation is sufficient for the district court to conclude that Republic's representations about the size of the dumpsters were *per se* negligent. But again, that is a merits question.

already concluded that Republic's policy is "unfair" to customers and results in a "windfall" to Republic.

Ultimately—and as the district court correctly concluded—the question of whether Republic was wrong to provide something different than it marketed and billed for is a common question that predominates over everything else in this case. Either Republic owed its customers that selected and paid for a "3 YD" dumpster a true three-yard dumpster, or it didn't. The answer cannot be different for different class members.

II. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it determined that the classes satisfy the enumerated requirements of Rule 23(b)(3) and declined to address Republic's undeveloped "ascertainability" argument.

Republic's next argument proceeds from the premise that members of the two classes are unidentifiable or, in other words, they are not "ascertainable," and the classes are therefore not "administratively feasible." According to Republic, the district court abused its discretion by declining to address this issue. But Republic's theory is both legally incorrect and factually misleading, and to the extent it has any relevance at all, it is a direct result of Republic's failure to keep accurate records of its own wrongdoing, and there are three primary reasons the Court should reject Republic's argument on this front, each of which is addressed in more detail below.

First, this Court should decline Republic's invitation to adopt a

rule that is untethered from the plain language of Rule 23, and that the majority of federal appellate courts have likewise rejected. *E.g., Mullins v. Direct Digital, LLC*, 795 F.3d 654, 661 (7th Cir. 2015). The primary reason courts have rejected Republic's theory is that requiring class representatives to satisfy a "stringent version of ascertainability" renders the enumerated requirements of Rule 23 superfluous while also erecting insurmountable hurdles in cases where there is no realistic alternative to class treatment. *Mullins*, 795 F.3d at 663–64.

Second, the classes here are ascertainable because they identify a specific group of people who were allegedly harmed in the same manner by the same set of practices, which is all that the majority of jurisdictions require. See, e.g., Cherry v. Dometic Corp., 986 F.3d 1296, 1304–05 (11th Cir. 2021). Moreover, it is unclear at this stage of the case how much information Republic truly has about the distribution of its undersized dumpsters, because Republic has repeatedly refused to produce such information pending the resolution of the class certification stage of this case.

Third, the identity of specific class members will not affect Republic's overall liability, because that liability can be calculated in the aggregate. And in cases where aggregate liability can be calculated, a defendant has no interest in how those damages are distributed, and the defendant's due process rights are not implicated "at all." *Briseno v. ConAgra Foods, Inc.*, 844 F.3d 1121, 1132 (9th Cir. 2017). A. The Court should reject Republic's invitation to impose a requirement that is inconsistent with Rule 23 when Republic cannot even identify what part of Rule 23 it believes is implicated.

At the outset, Republic's "ascertainability" argument is unmoored from any identified part of Rule 23(a) or Rule 23(b)(3), and Republic does not even mention which of the six required elements of Rule 23(b)(3) certification Republic thinks the district court misapplied when it declined to address this part of Republic's argument. Nor does Republic discuss any Montana cases⁴⁷ in support of its ascertainability argument. The Court should reject Republic's argument for these reasons alone.

Even if the Court entertains Republic's undeveloped argument, it should still reject it. Rule 23 identifies the prerequisites to maintaining a class action. It does not mention "ascertainability" or "administrative feasibility." Instead, Rule 23(b)(3) requires a court certifying a class under that section to consider "the likely difficulties in managing a class action." M.R.Civ.P. 23(b)(3)(D). And, as this Court has long held, the issues bearing on the manageability of a class action—and the class definitions themselves—can be considered on an ongoing basis as a case proceeds, and they "fall particularly within the purview of the district court." *Rolan v. New W. Health Servs.*, 2013 MT 220, ¶ 15, 371 Mont.

⁴⁷ Republic mentions *Sangwin* but only in the context of "individual assessments," and the cited portion of *Sangwin* addresses predominance, not ascertainability or administrative feasibility in the context of superiority. *Sangwin*, ¶¶ 35–37.

228, 307 P.3d 291.

For these reasons, a majority of Circuits have concluded that ascertainability concerns are more properly addressed under the manageability criterion of Rule 23(b)(3)'s superiority requirement. *E.g., Mullins*, 795 F3d 654; *Briseno*, 844 F.3d at 1128. Unlike the freestanding ascertainability requirement, the superiority requirement is comparative, and asks courts to assess efficiency "with an eye toward other available methods" of adjudicating the case. *Mullins*, 795 F.3d at 664. Under this comparative framework, "refusing to certify on manageability grounds alone should be the last resort." *Mullins*, 795 F.3d at 664.

Thus, as the Eleventh Circuit instructs, courts should assess the comparative superiority of litigating a case as a class action with two questions. First, would a class action create more manageability problems than its alternatives? And second, how do the manageability concerns compare with the advantages or disadvantages of a class action? *Cherry*, 986 F.3d at 1304–05. One of the issues courts should not consider, however, is the size of the potential class or the need to conduct an individual review of records to identify the class members, even if that review may be "substantial." *Young v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 693 F.3d 532, 539 (6th Cir. 2012).

This is especially true when the asserted ascertainability and administrative feasibility problems are a result of the defendant's own recordkeeping practices. *Young*, 693 F.3d at 539. In fact, it is often the case that "class action litigation grows out of systemic failures of administration, policy application, or records management that result in small monetary losses to large numbers of people," and to allow that systemic failure to defeat class certification "would undermine the very purpose of class action remedies." *Young*, 693 F.3d at 539. Thus, a defendant's "failure in record management, if any, or the difficulty in compiling precise records does not defeat class certification." *Moore v. Ulta Salon*, 311 F.R.D. 590, 621 (C.D. Cal. 2015); *Daniels v. Hollister Co.*, 113 A.3d 796, 801 (N.J. App. 2015) ("Allowing a defendant to escape responsibility for its alleged wrongdoing by dint of its particular recordkeeping policies...is not in harmony with the principles governing class actions.").

Ultimately, one of the purposes of class actions is to save the resources of the parties and courts by adjudicating issues affecting every class member in an economical fashion. *Jacobsen v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 2013 MT 244, ¶ 27, 371 Mont. 393, 310 P.3d 452. Here, adjudicating whether Republic's longtime and knowing use of undersized dumpsters is wrongful in one go is superior to the alternative—a series of lawsuits by hundreds of individual entities, when each of those entities has suffered the exact same alleged injury, and where the evidence and arguments necessary to prove that alleged injury will be identical for each class member, and where the result will

be the same for every member of the class.

B. Even if the Court were to adopt the most stringent ascertainability test as applied by the Third Circuit, the classes certified by the district court pass the test.

Republic asserts that it will be too hard to determine who had undersized dumpsters and when. But Republic has also specifically declined to respond to certain discovery requests until the class certification issue is resolved. It has also conducted a "survey" of where its undersized dumpsters are located but declined to share the results of that survey pending the resolution of this phase of the case.⁴⁸ It is therefore unclear whether Republic truly lacks any information on when and where the undersized dumpsters have been deployed, and the district court was correct to decline to address this purported problem especially because it is 100% of Republic's own making.

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